Before the

Administrative Hearing Commission

State of Missouri

SECRETARY OF STATE and 
)

COMMISSIONER OF SECURITIES, 
)



)



Petitioners,   
)




)


vs.

)

No. 01-1556 SE




)

MATTHEW A. MIKESCH, 
)




)



Respondent.
)

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW


On September 14, 2001, the Secretary of State and Commissioner of Securities filed a petition asserting that the broker-dealer registration of Matthew A. Mikesch is subject to discipline because Mikesch sold securities that were not registered in the State of Missouri.  


On January 4, 2002, in response to a motion by Petitioners, we issued an order deeming the facts of the complaint admitted because Mikesch failed to file an answer.  However, we did not grant a default against Mikesch because the record was inadequate to determine whether his registration was subject to discipline as a matter of law.   


We convened a hearing on the complaint on January 23, 2002.  Assistant Attorney General Earl Kraus represented Petitioners.  Though notified of the date and time of the hearing, neither Mikesch nor anyone representing him appeared.  The matter became ready for our decision on May 16, 2002, the last date for filing a written argument.  

Findings of Fact

1. Mikesch was an agent of NYLIFE Securities.  Mikesch was registered with the Commissioner as a broker-dealer, Registration No. 2356741, from May 24, 1999, through October 16, 2000. 

2. Beginning on or before July 24, 1998, and through July 16, 1999, Mikesch offered and sold in Missouri securities in the form of commercial notes issued by First American Capital Trust (FACT).  FACT was a Florida-based entity engaged in the business of selling commercial notes to investors.  FACT invested in automobile loans and serviced those loans.  In order to finance its business, it issued debt, in the form of commercial notes, to the public.  The FACT notes were entitled “Certificate of Commercial Note.”  

3. The FACT note disclosure states:  

The Trust was formed to purchase and service retail automobile installment loan contracts (vehicle loans) in the commercial market.  The Trust will use the proceeds from the issuance of Notes to finance the purchase of loans secured by perfected liens on new and used automobiles and light trucks. . . . The Notes will have a term of nine months and be payable simple interest on a term basis with all principal and interest payable in full at term.  Interest on the Notes will commence to accrue on the date of a purchaser’s check deposit and contingent upon the acceptance by FACT.  


4. Mikesch knew or should have known that FACT notes could not be sold to individuals in Missouri.  The FACT disclosure statement stated on page 15:  “[I]n the State of Washington and Missouri, the Notes may only be sold to banks or insurance Companies.”  

5. The FACT disclosure statement set forth two groups of acceptable purchasers under its “PURCHASER SUITABILITY STANDARDS.”  The first group consisted of entities such as banks and insurance companies, or individuals (1) with a net worth or joint net worth with the purchaser’s spouse of at least $1,000,000 including home furnishings, or who (2) had annual 

gross income during the previous two years of at least $200,000 per year, or (3) who had joint income with spouse of at least $300,000 per year and expects to have at least that much gross income during the current year.  The second group was unaccredited purchasers.  However, the disclosure statement stated that: 

FACT will accept a purchase from unaccredited purchasers in those cases where the purchaser funds do not represent the purchaser’s entire assets (20%) and is considered discretionary capital which can be placed at some limited risk. . . .  Each person must represent that he/she meets the applicable requirements set forth above and in the agreement, including among other things, that he/she has such knowledge and experience in financial and business matters, that he/she is capable of evaluating without outside assistance the merits and risks of purchasing the Notes.  Agents and other persons participating in the placement must make a reasonable inquiry in order to verify a purchaser’s suitability for purchase of a Note.

FACT will not accept from any one Note purchaser more than 20% of his/her total assets.  In all cases FACT will only accept funds that are considered discretionary.  


6. The FACT disclosure statement further provided:  

FACT does not advertise or make general solicitations to the public.  FACT contracts qualified Note purchasers through agents which have an established clientele portfolio.  Master Agents have entered into agreements with FACT and must comply with all exempt security laws as required by the Federal Securities and Exchange Commission and those of each applicable state.  All agents have also signed and fully executed a compliance form with FACT, which is on file with FACT and is available for public viewing with appropriate notice.  


7. Mikesch contacted his elderly insurance clients and solicited sales of FACT notes.  Mikesch sold FACT notes in or from Missouri to at least 12 investors, who invested at least $584,000 in FACT notes.  At least some of the investors had annual household income of less than $50,000, and had estimated net worth of $150,000 to $200,000.  The investors made a minimum investment of $25,000 each.  

8. Mikesch received approximately $18,000 in commissions from FACT notes sold in or from Missouri to Missouri investors.  

9. The FACT notes that Mikesch sold were not registered as securities with the Missouri Office of Secretary of State, Securities Division.  

10. The FACT notes were investments of less than prime quality.  

11. FACT went bankrupt after Mikesch sold FACT notes to Missouri investors. 

12. On March 16, 2000, the Division received information indicating that Mikesch may have sold the FACT notes in Missouri.

13. On April 10, 2000, the Division sent a letter of inquiry to Mikesch requesting certain information regarding his sale of FACT notes to Missouri residents.  

14. On May 1, 2000, the Division received a response from Mikesch stating, in part:  

As to the main question of the exemption status of the product, I refer to the Disclosure (Pg. 15) I have hi-lited [sic] the statement that I was advised of.  It states that, “The Notes are being sold as exempt securities pursuant to Section 3(a)(3) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.”  I also believed that this must be an exempt product based on the fact that my father-in-law, who introduced me to this product, is not securities licensed and neither is the insurance broker/master agent that he has worked with for years on insurance products.  The broker/master agent is the one who introduced the product to him.  


15. On May 15, 2000, in response to a second request for information, the Division received a letter from Mikesch stating, among other things, that Mikesch stopped selling FACT notes after becoming employed as an agent with NYLIFE Securities on May 18, 1999.  However, Mikesch had continued selling FACT notes in Missouri at least through July 16, 1999.  

16. NYLIFE Securities terminated Mikesch’s employment on September 22, 2000, in response to his sale of non-approved FACT notes.

17. NYLIFE Securities withdrew Mikesch’s registration with the Division on October 16, 2000.  

Conclusions of Law


This Commission has jurisdiction over this case.  Section 409.204(f)(1).
  Petitioners have the burden of proof.  Id.   


Section 409.204(a) provides:  

The commissioner [of securities] may by order deny, suspend, or revoke any registration or bar or censure any registrant . . . or restrict or limit a registrant as to any function or activity of the business for which registration is required in this state, if he finds (1) that the order is in the public interest and (2) that the applicant or registrant . . . 

*   *   *

(B) Has willfully violated or willfully failed to comply with any provision of sections 409.101 to 409.419[.]

Section 409.301 provides:  

It is unlawful for any person to offer or sell any security in this state unless:  


(1) It is registered under this act; 


(2) The security or transaction is exempted under section 409.402; or 


(3) It is a federal covered security.


It is undisputed that the FACT notes were not registered with the State of Missouri.  Section 409.402(f) provides that in any proceeding under Chapter 409, RSMo, the burden of proving an exemption is on the person claiming it.  In correspondence with the Division of Securities, Mikesch claimed an exemption under Section 3 of the Securities Act of 1933, which 

is now codified at 15 U.S.C. section 77c.  Subsection (a)(3) includes within the definition of exempted securities:  

Any note, draft, bill of exchange, or banker’s acceptance which arises out of a current transaction or the proceeds of which have been or are to be used for current transactions, and which has a maturity at the time of issuance of not exceeding nine months, exclusive of days of grace, or any renewal thereof the maturity of which is likewise limited[.]

Section 409.402(a)(10) provides an exemption with almost identical language: 


Any commercial paper which arises out of a current transaction or the proceeds of which have been or are to be used for current transactions, and which evidences an obligation to pay cash within nine months of the date of issuance, exclusive of days of grace, or any renewal of such paper which is likewise limited, or any guarantee of such paper or of any such renewal[.]

Although section 409.402(a)(10) provides an exemption with language very similar to 15 U.S.C. section 77c, Mikesch did not claim that exemption.  Further, not only did he fail to answer Petitioners’ complaint, but after we denied Petitioners’ motion for default, Mikesch failed to appear before this Commission to establish the elements of any exemption that he might have claimed under section 409.402.


Even if we consider Mikesch to have properly raised a claim of exemption, federal courts have held that the exemption of 15 U.S.C. section 77c applies only to prime quality negotiable commercial paper of a type not ordinarily purchased by the general public.  NBW Commercial Paper Litigation v. Federal Deposit Insurance Corp., 813 F. Supp. 7, 17 (D.C. Columbia 1992).  The courts have held that the exemption created by 15 U.S.C. section 77c creates a presumption that any security with a duration of less than nine months is exempted from the scope of the statute, but that presumption “is rebuttable with evidence that sales are made to the public (or other unsophisticated investors) and that the investments are of less-than-prime quality.”  Id. at 18.  Similarly, in this case, even though the term of the FACT notes was for nine months, a claim 

of exemption is rebutted by the evidence that sales were made to the members of the public, which were unsophisticated investors, and the investments were less than prime quality.  We construe the securities laws to effectuate their intent to protect the safety of the investing public.  Id.  Mikesch sold FACT notes to individuals, even though the disclosure statement stated that in Missouri FACT notes should be sold only to banks and insurance companies.  The purchasers were elderly, and the evidence does not show that they had knowledge and experience in financial and business matters.  As far as the evidence shows, they were certainly not accredited purchasers under the provisions of the FACT disclosure statement, nor did they qualify as unaccredited purchasers under those provisions.  The investments represented these elderly people’s life savings, not “discretionary capital which can be placed at some limited risk.”  


Likewise, a FACT note is not a federal covered security.  Section 409.401(e); 15 U.S.C. section 77r(b).  


Because the FACT notes were not registered, exempt, or federal covered securities, Mikesch unlawfully sold them in Missouri.  Section 409.301.  


Section 409.204(a)(B) allows discipline if the Commissioner of Securities finds that discipline is in the public interest and that the registrant has willfully violated a provision of Chapter 409, RSMo.  The Commissioner of Securities found that discipline is in the public interest, and we agree.  Mikesch sold FACT notes to vulnerable, elderly people, even though the disclosure specifically stated that in Missouri the FACT notes should be sold only to banks and insurance companies.  We infer that Mikesch acted willfully, within the meaning of the securities laws, because he was aware of his actions.  State v. Dumke, 901 S.W.2d 100, 102 (Mo. App., W.D. 1995).  Therefore, his registration is subject to discipline under section 409.204(a)(B).  

Summary


We conclude that Mikesch’s registration is subject to discipline under section 409.204(a)(B).  


SO ORDERED on May 31, 2002.



________________________________



SHARON M. BUSCH 



Commissioner

	�Statutory references are to the 2000 Revised Statutes of Missouri, unless otherwise noted.  
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